
MARTIN v. WILKS AND THE FUTURE OF CONSENT
DECREES AS A MEANS OF SETTLING TITLE VII CASES

INTRODUCTION

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 19641 grants applicants for
public employment a civil cause of action to attack racially discrimina-
tory hiring and promotion practices in their respective local, county and
state governments.2 An unsuccessful Title VII defendant faces serious
and costly penalties. A state or political subdivision found to have en-
gaged in discriminatory hiring practices may be ordered to provide
back pay, pay damages, and comply with whatever remedial scheme,
however onerous, is devised by the judge hearing the case.' However,
Title VII litigation is also costly and time consuming to plaintiffs. Such
plaintiffs often lack the resources and knowledge of the defendant, and
often face years of expensive litigation before their rights are
vindicated.

It is not surprising that opposing parties often choose to settle hir-
ing discrimination cases. Popular alternatives to the judicially imposed
settlements are voluntary agreements and consent decrees. Localities
often hope to preempt Title VII cases by agreeing to voluntarily rectify
the effects of past discrimination. Consent decrees enable parties al-
ready engaged in a Title VII action to come to an agreement before
final adjudication of the action. The consent decree is then approved by
the judge. It is the latter alternative, consent decrees, around which the
case of Martin v. Wilks4 and this Note revolve.

The Supreme Court in Martin v. Wilks granted white firemen,
non-parties to the original Title VII action, the right to bring reverse
discriminatory hiring claims against the City of Birmingham, although

42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e to 2000e-17 (1982).
42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5 (1982).
42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(g) states:

If the court finds that the respondent has intentionally engaged in or is intentionally engag-
ing in an unlawful employment practice. . .the court may enjoin the respondent. . .and
order such affirmative action as may be appropriate, which may include, but is not limited
to, reinstatement or hiring of employees, with or without back pay. or any other equita-
ble relief as the court deems appropriate.
4 109 S. Ct. 2180 (1989).
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the disputed hiring practices were compelled by an affirmative action
plan established by a judicially approved consent decree. United States
Law Week stated that this case "may have a broader impact on em-
ployment discrimination litigation than any other this term."5

Martin v. Wilks casts a dark shadow on the efficacy of the consent
decree as a means of resolving Title VII discriminatory hiring cases.
Apparently, non-parties can now continuously attack previously settled
agreements if they can show some resultant adverse effect. Such a de-
velopment would mean that only the most naive party would agree to
enter into a consent decree. As a result of Martin v. Wilks, it appears
that all Title VII litigation will be contested until a judicial settlement
is imposed.

Is this gloomy assessment correct? Have consent decrees been ren-
dered ineffectual as a means of resolving Title VII disputes? This Note
will explore the history of Martin v. Wilks, the points of view of the
majority and dissent, and the effect of the decision on subsequent Title
VII litigation. Also, this Note will demonstrate that if all interested
parties are joined, and if the affirmative action plan meets the tests
enumerated in recent Supreme Court decisions, then a consent decree
will likely survive a collateral attack. However, this Note will also show
that the strictures placed upon consent decrees by Martin v. Wilks
greatly diminish their attractiveness as an alternative to full adjudica-
tion in Title VII cases.

I. HISTORY

As a result of the vestiges of Jim Crow and other forms of racism,
the Birmingham, Alabama Fire Department remained virtually all
white through the early 1970's.6 The local (Ensley) branch of the
N.A.A.C.P., along with seven individual black plaintiffs, filed two class
action complaints in the United States District Court for the Northern
District of Alabama against the City of Birmingham (the City) and the
Jefferson County, Alabama, Personnel Board (the Board) in January of
1974. 7 The plaintiffs alleged that the City and the Board had engaged
in a pattern of discrimination in hiring and promotion practices in pub-

' 58 U.S.L.W. 3070, August 8, 1989.
' In re Birmingham Reverse Discrimination Employment Litigation, 833 F.2d 1492, 1495

n.7 (11th Cir. 1987).
Id. at 1494.
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lic service employment and, consequently, claimed violations of Title
VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §§2000e to 2000e-17;
42 U.S.C. section 1981; and 42 U.S.C. section 1983.8 The district court
consolidated this action with an identical action brought by the United
States.

The first issue litigated in federal district court was the alleged
discriminatory effect of the entry level tests used by the City and the
Board to screen applicants for the fire and police departments. In Janu-
ary of 1977, the district court entered a final judgment against the City
and the Board holding that the tests were discriminatory in violation of
Title VII. The decision was upheld by the United States Court of Ap-
peals for the Fifth Circuit.'

A second trial on the validity of other employment tests used by
the Board began in August 1979. However, the action never reached
final adjudication. Avoiding the previously enumerated disadvantages
of protracted Title VII litigation, the parties reached a settlement re-
sulting in consent decrees. 10 The parties joined in the consent decrees
included the City, the Board, the Ensley branch of the N.A.A.C.P., the
seven black plaintiffs, and the United States. These settlements con-
cluded the first round of litigation in Martin v. Wilks.

The consent decrees constructed an extensive remedial scheme di-
rected at the entire public service employment system. The portion of
the consent decrees relevant to this Note required the establishment of
long term and interim annual goals for the hiring and promotion of
blacks within the fire department. Under the terms of the agreements
the City was obliged to adopt long term hiring and promotion goals
aimed at employing women and blacks in numbers approximating their
proportion of the local population."

The district court provisionally approved the consent decrees and
held a fairness hearing to allow interested parties to voice their opin-
ions. The Birmingham Fire Fighters Association No. 177 (the B.F.A.)
then joined the case and filed an amicus curiae brief objecting to any
race conscious relief. However, they did not move to intervene in the
case until after the fairness hearing. Although they did move to inter-

' Id. at 1494, n.3.
" Ensley Branch of NAACP v. Seibels, 616 F.2d 812 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 449 U.S. 1061

(1980).
10 Birmingham, 833 F.2d at 1494.

I Id.
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vene under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 24(A) before final approval
of the consent decrees, the district court dismissed the motions as un-
timely.12 Consequently, the district court issued an order approving the
decrees on August 18, 1981. The court stated that the settlements rep-
resented a "fair, adequate and reasonable compromise of the issues be-
tween the parties. . . ." The agreements were neither inequitable, un-
constitutional, nor against public policy.1"

To support its finding of fairness, the district court noted that
there had been a judicial finding of discrimination in the entry level
testing process."' Moreover, after seven years of Title VII litigation, the
racial composition of the City work force remained disproportionately
white. As of July 21, 1981, 42 of the 453 fire fighters were black, and
none of the 140 lieutenants, captains or battalion chiefs were black,
although the population of Birmingham was 49.9% black. 5

After final approval by the district court, seven other white fire
fighters moved to enjoin enforcement of the consent decrees, arguing
that the decrees would discriminate against them in violation of Title
VII. However, their request for a preliminary injunction was denied by
the district court.1

The B.F.A. and the individual white plaintiffs appealed the denials
of their motion to intervene and the motion for a preliminary injunction
to the Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. In United States v.
Jefferson County,'7 the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal of the
denial of intervention, holding that the white fire fighters could later
file a separate Title VII action on their own behalf and, therefore,
would not be prejudiced by the denial. Because the plaintiffs had not
carried the burden of showing irreparable harm if the consent decrees
were to go into effect, the denial of the preliminary injunction was also
upheld. 8 Thus ended the second round of litigation in this case, two
years after the district court granted final approval to the consent
decrees.

Following the preliminary injunction contest, a different group of

12 Id. at 1494, 1495.
s Id. at 1495.

14 Id.
"5 Id. at 1495 n.7.
1I Id. at 1495.

720 F,2d 1511 (11th Cir. 1983).
18 Birmingham, 833 F.2d at 1495.
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white fire fighters, led by Robert K. Wilks (hereinafter; the Wilks re-
spondents), began the third round of litigation by initiating another suit
in district court. 19 Their complaint alleged that the City and the Board
certified candidates and conferred promotions on the basis of race. The
Wilks respondents asserted that they were denied promotion in favor of
less qualified black candidates. Under the protective. cloak of the con-
sent decrees, the City and the Board allegedly favored blacks over
whites in violation of Title VII and the Equal Protection Clause of the
Fourteenth Amendment. The plaintiffs requested that the district court
enjoin the City from making such promotions.20

The City and the Board denied that they had violated Title VII or
the Equal Protection Clause. Any racially conscious certifications made
by the City and the Board were made pursuant to the consent decrees
and, thus, lawful. Moreover, they argued that the plaintiffs were bound
by the terms of the consent decrees. In addition, the seven black indi-
viduals who comprised the plaintiffs in the original 1974 case, the Mar-
tin petitioners, intervened to defend the validity of the consent decrees.
They wished to represent the entire class of black applicants under
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23, but were allowed only to intervene
in their individual capacities.2

In April of 1984, the district court consolidated the suits under the
title In re Birmingham Reverse Discrimination Employment Litigation
(Birmingham I). At the conclusion of the plaintiffs' case, the district
court granted the Board's motion to dismiss and entered an order in
favor of the City and the individual black intervenors. Consequently,
the suits by the white plaintiffs and the United States against the City
and the Board were dismissed.22 The holding of the district court in
this case became the subject of widely diverging interpretations by the
United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit and both the
majority and dissent in Martin v. Wilks.

Following their defeat in district court, the white fire fighters and
the United States appealed to the Eleventh Circuit (Birmingham II).13

"9 Id. at 1496. The United States joined the plaintiffs' suit despite its status as an original
signatory to the consent decrees. This reversal of the U.S. position reflects the Reagan Justice
Department's open hostility to affirmative action plans.

20 Id. at 1495.
2 Id. at 1496.
22 Id. at 1496, 1497.
23 Id. at 1497.
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The issues debated in Martin v. Wilks were framed by the Eleventh
Circuit's decision in Birmingham H. Moreover, the disagreement be-
tween Justices Rehnquist and Stevens over the meaning of the district
court's holding had its germination in this case.

A review of Birmingham H requires scrutiny of the court of ap-
peals' interpretation of the district court holding. The court of appeals
argued that the district court held the plaintiffs "bound" by the consent
decrees, and thus unfairly limited the scope of their case to an allega-
tion that the City had violated paragraph 2 of the City consent decree,
while ignoring the alleged violations of Title VII and the Equal Protec-
tion Clause.24 As a result of the district court's narrowing of the issues,
the court of appeals argued that the Wilks respondents' claim was un-
justly transformed from an assertion of Title VII and Equal Protection
Clause violations by the City into a request to enforce paragraph 2 of
the City's consent decree.25

Paragraph 2 of the consent decree stated: "Nothing herein shall be
interpreted as requiring the City to hire unnecessary personnel, or to
hire, transfer, or promote a less qualified person, in preference to a
person who is demonstrably better qualified based upon the results of a
job related selection procedure."26 The issue at trial in the district court
was whether the promotions complained of in the white fire fighters'
suits complied with the terms of paragraph 2. The white fire fighters
had to show (1) that they were demonstrably better qualified within the
meaning of paragraph 2; (2) that the criteria upon which they wished
to compare qualifications was based on job-related selection procedures;
and (3) that the City had been aware of the disparity of qualifications
when it made the challenged promotions."

The district court held that the plaintiffs had failed to show a vio-
lation of paragraph 2 of the consent decree. The court found that the
City did not use a job-related selection procedure in evaluating the
qualification of certified candidates. Therefore, the City had not vio-
lated paragraph 2 of the consent decree. Moreover, the individual
plaintiffs and the United States were bound by the consent decrees.

', Id. The district court never states that the plaintiffs were "bound" by the decree, but the
court of appeals argues that the district court "in effect" treated the plaintiffs as parties to the
decrees.

25 Birmingham, 833 F.2d at 1496, 1497.
26 Id. at 1497.
27 Id.
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Consequently, all claims against the City were dismissed by the district
court."'

This interpretation of the district court's holding is the basis upon
which the court of appeals framed its logic and final decision in the
Birmingham II case. Moreover, it set the foundation for the majority
interpretation in Martin v. Wilks, and was strongly disputed in Justice
Stevens' dissent in that case.

II. BIRMINGHAM II: THE COURT OF APPEALS' HOLDING

On appeal, the court of appeals framed the issue as a question of
whether the individual white plaintiffs and the United States were pre-
cluded from bringing Title VII suits against the City and the Board
because the allegedly discriminatory promotions were made pursuant to
consent decrees. 9 The court quickly disposed of the United States'
claim, agreeing with the district court holding that, as an original sig-
natory to the consent decrees, the United States was a party and was
precluded from bringing a claim. The court noted that the United
States could bring an action for civil contempt against the City, claim-
ing a violation of paragraph 2 of the consent decree, or in the alterna-
tive, could seek modification of the consent decrees in the court of orig-
inal jurisdiction. Thus, the United States' role was reduced to that of
an amicus curiae.30

The Birmingham II court agreed with the district court that par-
ties to a consent decree cannot attack the decree. With respect to the
individual white plaintiffs, however, the court of appeals held that since
these plaintiffs were neither parties nor privies to the City consent de-
cree, their claims of violations of Title VII and the Equal Protection
Clause were not precluded. Therefore, the court of appeals remanded
the case back to the district court for a hearing of these claims."1

To support its holding, the court of appeals cited Parklane Ho-
siery Co. v. Shore, which stated that it was "a violation of due process
for a judgment to be binding on a litigant who was not a party or a
privy and therefore had not had an opportunity to be heard." 2 The

28 Id.
29 Id. at 1497, 1498.
11 Id. at 1501.
3 Id. at 1497, 1498.
32 439 U.S. 322 (1979).
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Birmingham I court reasoned that the individual white plaintiffs did
not share an identity of interest with either the City or the Board. The
court regarded the B.F.A.'s long term involvement in the litigation, in-
cluding its attempt to intervene in United States v. Jefferson County33

and the amicus curiae briefs filed at the fairness hearing, as insufficient
to show that the plaintiffs were parties to the decree. 4

Despite the plaintiffs' status as City employees, the court argued
that the employees did not share an identity of interest with the City, a
bona fide party to the consent decree. The court faulted the City, re-
monstrating that "the record fail[ed] to indicate that the City mounted
a vigorous defense to the allegations leveled against it before entering
into settlement negotiations. '35 Moreover, the court disparaged the
idea that any identity of interest could exist between the plaintiffs and
the City, arguing that the plaintiffs' sole interest was in preserving pre-
existing promotion opportunities, while the City was willing to negoti-
ate to change the status quo. The court argued that the "City's inter-
ests were antagonistic in that it has every reason to avoid a
determination of liability and little reason to object to the promotion
aspect of the settlement." 3 Thus, the court held that the City was not
"an effective surrogate for the individual plaintiffs' interest when it ne-
gotiated the plan incorporated into the consent decree."37

Having found the plaintiffs to be neither parties nor privies to the
consent decrees, the court went on to consider the remaining obstacle to
the plaintiffs' suit, the doctrine of "impermissible collateral attack."38

Those circuit courts of appeals which have adopted the doctrine immu-
nize employment actions taken by parties to a consent decree from
charges of discrimination by non-parties to the decree, so long as the
actions in question are taken pursuant to the consent decree. This ap-

3 720 F.2d at 1518.
3' Birmingham, 833 F.2d at 1499.
35 Id.
3 Id.
11 Id. The court of appeals' reasoning ignores the long and bitter litigation which the City

and the Board were willing to endure prior to entering into an agreement with the N.A.A.C.P.
and the individual black plaintiffs. The purpose of the City's resistance was to maintain the status
quo. The status quo had been found, in regards to the basic entrance exam required of all employ-
ees, to be discriminatory. Since the court of appeals argues that the "sole interest" of the white
fire fighters was the preservation of pre-existing promotion opportunities, it is difficult to concede
that the City failed to mount a vigorous defense of their interest.

11 Id. at 1498.
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proach emphasizes "the need to encourage voluntary agreements in-
tended to eradicate race discrimination"39 and notes that permitting
third party attacks would discourage the negotiation of consent
decrees."'

The Birmingham H court held that the public policy interest in
the encouragement of voluntary agreements was out weighed by the
"strong public policy of including all interested parties in settlement
negotiations in order to avoid subsequent suits and dissatisfaction
caused by exclusion." '41 The court asserted that the "impermissible col-
lateral attack" doctrine deprived non-parties of their day in court in
violation of due process rights. Therefore, the court ruled that the "pol-
icy of encouraging voluntary affirmative action plans must yield to the
policy against requiring third parties to submit to bargains in which
their interests were either ignored or sacrificed."42 Consequently, the
court declined to apply the "impermissible collateral attack" doctrine,
and remanded the case to the district court with instructions to try the
unlawful discrimination claims.4

On remand, the court of appeals instructed the district court to
review the consent decrees under the standards articulated by the Su-
preme Court in Johnson v. Transportation Agency.44 This case involved
a claimed violation of a voluntary affirmative action plan under Title
VII for the promotion of a woman over a more qualified male appli-
cant. To justify the consideration of race or gender in the remedy pre-
scribed by a voluntary affirmative action plan, the Johnson court re-
quired the plan to satisfy a two-prong test. First, the race conscious
remedy must be justified by a showing of a manifest imbalance in the
representation of women and minorities in the work force. Second, the
remedy must be tailored narrowly so as not to "unnecessarily trammel"
the rights of majority employees or to create a bar to their
advancement.4"

39 Id.
40 See, e.g., Thaggard v. City of Jackson, 687 F.2d 66 (5th Cir. 1982), cert. denied, 464 U.S.

900 (1983); Dennison v. City of Los Angeles, 658 F.2d 694 (9th Cir. 1981); E.E.O.C. v. McCall
Printing Corp., 633 F.2d 1232 (6th Cir. 1980).

" Birmingham, 833 F.2d at 1498.
42 Id. at 1498.
41 Id. at 1500.
.4 443 U.S. 193 (1979).
" Birmingham, 833 F.2d at 1500.
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The Birmingham H court saw no difference between a judicially
approved consent decree and a voluntary agreement. Therefore, it or-
dered the district court to subject the consent decrees to "heightened
scrutiny" under the second prong of the Johnson test."' The Birming-
ham H holding required the district court to subject Birmingham's af-
firmative action plan, and by implication all such plans which are not
the product of a final adjudication, to the strictest scrutiny in the judi-
cial repertoire, despite the stated congressional policy of encouraging
voluntary agreements. More than thirteen years after the beginning of
the Title VII litigation, the validity of the agreement between the City
and the black plaintiffs was called into serious question, and the Fire
Department moved no closer to integration.

In his dissent to Birmingham H, Judge Anderson pointed out an
important discrepancy between the majority holding and the court of
appeals' previous holding in the predecessor case, Jefferson County. 7

Judge Anderson analyzed the Jefferson County court's holding that an
employer's undertaking of an allegedly discriminatory action pursuant
to a court approved consent decree was evidence of non-discriminatory
intent by the employer." Therefore, if the white plaintiffs filed a Title
VII action against the City, they could not show discriminatory intent
and their claim would be dismissed.

According to Judge Anderson, the Jefferson County holding would
preclude any action by the white plaintiffs for retrospective relief such
as back pay. Nonetheless, Judge Anderson agreed with the majority
that the plaintiffs should not be precluded from seeking prospective re-
lief by challenging the validity of the consent decrees."

The holding in Birmingham H was cited, with varying results, in
three federal cases. In Eirhart v. Libbey-Owens-Ford Co.,50 the court
distinguished the status of the plaintiffs in that case and those in Bir-
mingham H. The court found that the City failed to mount a vigorous
defense of the Birmingham plaintiffs' interest, whereas Libbey-Owens-
Ford Company had engaged in protracted and bitter litigation and ne-
gotiation prior before entering an agreement. The Eirhart plaintiffs
could not argue that their interest had not been represented during the

16 Id. at 1501.
47 720 F.2d at 1511.
" Birmingham, 833 F.2d at 1502.
" d. at 1503.
o 692 F. Supp. 871, 874 (N.D. I11. 1988).

[Vol. l:l
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negotiation of the consent decree at issue in that case and were pre-
cluded from intervening in opposition to the consent decree.

The court in Equal Employment Opportunity Commission v.
Jacksonville Shipyard, Inc.51 cited Birmingham II as the basis for al-
lowing the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (the E.E.O.C.)
to bring suit against Jacksonville Shipyards, Inc. for employment dis-
crimination. The shipyard had argued that the E.E.O.C. was collater-
ally estopped from bringing the action because of a previous determina-
tion which dismissed a private discrimination claim against the
shipyard. The court found that the E.E.O.C. was not a party to that
suit, nor were its interests represented. Citing Birmingham II, the court
held that the principle of collateral estoppel could not apply. Lastly, in
United States v. City of Chicago,5 the United States Court of Appeals
for the Seventh Circuit cited Birmingham II to justify the white plain-
tiffs' intervention in one affirmative action case, and the collateral at-
tack of another agreement, by arguing that the equitable decrees did
not adequately consider the white plaintiffs' interests.

All three cases indicated an acceptance of the basic premise of
Birmingham II, that non-party collateral attack of consent decrees may
proceed against affirmative action plans based on consent decrees, by
those courts which never explicitly followed the "impermissible collat-
eral attack" doctrine. However, Birmingham II was not accepted by
those circuits which had adopted the doctrine. It was this conflict
amongst the circuits which led to the Supreme Court granting certio-
rari to hear the Martin v. Wilks case.53

III. MARTIN v. WILKS

A. The Majority Opinion

In an opinion joined by Justices White, O'Connor, Scalia, and
Kennedy, Chief Justice Rehnquist affirmed the "impermissible collat-
eral attack" holding of the United States Court of Appeals for the
Eleventh Circuit. Non-party collateral attacks on affirmative action
plans established by a consent decree could not be precluded by this
doctrine. Therefore, the fact that the employment actions in question

" 696 F. Supp. 1438, 1441 (M.D. Fla. 1988).
52 870 F.2d 1256, 1262 (7th Cir. 1989).
53 cert. granted, 108 S. Ct. 2843 (1988).
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were made pursuant to a court approved consent decree was no bar to a
Title VII or Equal Protection Clause challenge by the Wilks respon-
dents, who the Court determined were not parties to the consent
decree.

In reaching this conclusion, the Rehnquist majority opinion
strongly relied on the logic employed by the Birmingham II court. In
addition to citing Parklane Hosiery, and other cases, 55 the Court of-
fered Hansbury v. Lee 51 for the proposition that "[I]t is a principle of
general application in Anglo-American jurisprudence that one is not
bound by a judgment in personam, in litigation in which he is not des-
ignated as a party or to which he has not been made a party by service
of process."

The majority argued that the "impermissible collateral attack"
doctrine, by requiring parties affected by a consent decree to intervene
under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 2451 or be precluded from chal-
lenging the decree, unjustly bound that party to the terms of the agree-
ment. Although the consent decree in the instant case did not oblige
the white plaintiffs to pursue or desist from any particular course of
action, the Court dismissed all argument that the agreement was not
"binding" on the respondents. 8

The majority accepted the Eleventh Circuit's premise that, despite
their long term involvement with the case, the white fire fighters were
not parties or privies to the decree. Therefore, the majority argued that
the preclusive effect of the "impermissible collateral attack" doctrine
denied the respondents their day in court in violation of the principle
enunciated in Hansbury v. Lee. 59

The majority discounted the significance of previous Supreme
Court decisions limiting the right to challenge a settlement. The deci-

54 439 U.S. 322 (1979).
11 See also Blonder-Tongue Laboratories, Inc. v. University Foundation, 402 U.S. 313, 328-

329 (1971); Zenith Radio Corp. v. Hazeline Research, Inc., 395 U.S. 100, 110 (1969).
6e 311 U.S. 32, 40 (1940).
67 Fed. R. Civ. Proc. 24(b) states in part:

Upon timely application anyone may be permitted to intervene in action...; or (2) when
an applicant's claim or defense and the main action have a question of law or fact in
common... [I]n exercising its discretion the court shall consider whether the intervention
will unduly delay or prejudice the adjudication of the rights of the original parties.

58 Martin v. Wilks, 109 S. Ct. at 2186 n.6.
9 Id. at 2186.
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sion in Penn-Central Merger and N& W Inclusion Cases60 was not ap-
plicable, argued Chief Justice Rehnquist, because the litigation took
place in a "special statutory framework enacted by Congress to allow
reorganization of a huge railway system. . ." and that in such a case
"[i]t would be senseless to permit parties seeking to challenge the
merger and the inclusion orders to bring numerous suits in many differ-
ent district courts."'" The decision in Provident Tradesmens Bank and
Trust Co. v. Patterson,62 on the other hand, left open the question of
whether a failure to intervene would have a preclusive effect on collat-
eral attacks and, thus, was not decisive. 3

Chief Justice Rehnquist also discounted the importance of the con-
gressional policy in favor of voluntary settlement of employment dis-
crimination claims, as articulated in Carson v. American Brands,
Inc.," as a support for the validity of the "impermissible collateral at-
tack" doctrine. He argued that voluntary settlements between one
group of employees and an employer "cannot possibly 'settle'. . .the
conflicting claims of another group of employees who do not join in the
agreement. . .even if the second group of employees [was] a party to
the litigation."63

To further support its point, the majority resurrected Justice Bran-
deis' statement in Chase National Bank v. Norwalk66 to the effect that:

The law does not impose upon any person absolutely entitled to a hearing the
burden of voluntary intervention in a suit to which he is a stranger. .. unless
duly summoned to appear in a legal proceeding, a person not a privy may rest
assured that a judgment recovered therein will not effect his legal rights.67

Chief Justice Rehnquist used this axiom as the basis for his hold-
ing. He stated that the best method for insuring that all interested par-
ties be adequately represented in litigation was not through Rule 24's
permissive intervention, but rather through Federal Rule of Civil Pro-
cedure 19(b), which requires the joinder of "indispensable parties."6 8

60 389 U.S. 486 (1983).
6' Martin v. Wilks, 109 S. Ct. at 2186.
62 390 U.S. 102 (1968).
63 Martin v. Wilks, 109 S. Ct. at 2187.
64 450 U.S. 79 (1981).
62 Martin v. Wilks, 109 S. Ct. at 2187, 2188.
66 291 U.S. 431 (1934).
67 Id. at 441.
"6 Fed. R. Civ. Proc. 19(a) states, in part:
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Under Chief Justice Rehnquist's theory, if a Title VII litigant wished
other potential parties to be "[slubject to the jurisdiction of the court
and bound by a judgment or decree. . .,"" the litigant had the burden
of joining these parties under Rule 19.

Reasoning that the original petitioners had the greater knowledge
of the type and extent of relief sought, Chief Justice Rehnquist thought
it fair to shift the burden to petitioners to join affected parties, rather
than oblige affected parties to intervene. 70 Therefore, the white fire
fighter's long-term knowledge of the litigation and their failure to inter-
vene in a timely manner was wholly irrelevant. Under the terms of
Chief Justice Rehnquist's holding, the City, the Board, the
N.A.A.C.P., and the individual black plaintiffs were required to join
every white fire fighter in the litigation if they wished to avoid a collat-
eral attack on the consent decrees.

Chief Justice Rehnquist would disdain all contentions that such a
mandatory joinder requirement unfairly burdens and ultimately dis-
courages civil rights litigation. Even if such concerns were valid, Chief
Justice Rehnquist responded, the difficulties "ar[o]se from the nature
of the relief sought. ..," and not from his newly fashioned rule.71 Con-
sequently, Chief Justice Rehnquist upheld the court of appeals' remand
order for a trial of the Wilks respondents' Title VII and Equal Protec-
tion Clause claims.

B. The Dissent

The opinion of dissenting Justice Stevens, joined by Justices
Blackmun, Brennan, and Marshall, diverged from the majority on
nearly every point. Justice Stevens argued that both the court of ap-
peals and the majority misinterpreted the district court holding in Bir-
mingham I. The majority erred in stating that the district court held

A person. . .shall be joined as a party in the action if. . .(2) the person claims an interest
relating to the subject of the action and is so situated that the disposition in the person's
absence may (i) as a practical matter impair or impede the person's ability to protect that
interest.

Rule 19(b) states, in part:
If a person. . .cannot be made a party, the court shall determine whether in equity and
good conscience the action should proceed among the parties before it, or should be dis-
missed, the absent person being thus regarded as indispensable.
19 Martin v. Wilks, 109 S. Ct. at 2187, 2188.
70 Id. at 2186.
71 Id. at 2187.
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that the Wilks respondents were bound by the decree, and thus pre-
cluded from challenging employment actions taken pursuant to the de-
cree. 72 Justice Stevens explained that nowhere in the district court's
opinion "is there a single word suggesting that respondents were bound
by the consent decree or that the court intended to treat them as actual
parties to the litigation and not merely as persons whose interests, as a
practical matter, had been'affected. ' 3

Justice Stevens noted a significant difference between actual par-
ties to litigation and those whose interests may be affected by the out-
come of a case. Actual parties have a right to participate at trial and to
appeal an adverse outcome. Persons whose interest may be effected
have a right to intervene in a timely manner, or to be joined against
their will. Justice Stevens placed the Wilks respondents in the second
category.

Justice Stevens agreed that the consent decree could not deprive
the white fire fighters of legal or contractual rights. Granting this point,
Justice Stevens said, did not lead to the conclusion that a consent de-
cree "might not produce changes in conditions at the white fire fighters'
place of employment that. . .may have a serious effect on their oppor-
tunities for employment or promotion even though they are not bound
by the decrees in any legal sense."' 74 Simply because the decree may
affect the job opportunities of non-parties, Justice Stevens argued, did
not mean "that the non-parties [were] deprived of legal rights or that
they ha[d] standing to appeal from that decree without becoming par-
ties."' 75 Therefore, the white fire fighters were neither parties to, nor
bound by, the consent decrees and belonged in the category of persons
whose interests may be affected by decrees. As such, Justice Stevens
would have required the white fire fighters to intervene in a timely
manner or be subjected to the consequences of sideline sitting. The by-
stander, Justice Stevens noted, has no right to appeal from a judgment,
no matter how disadvantageous.76

By placing the Wilks respondents in the second category, Justice
Stevens undercut Chief Justice Rehnquist's argument that the white
fire fighters were "indispensable parties" under Federal Rule of Civil

72 Id. at 2195.
73 Id.
74 Id. at 2189.
75 Id.
76 Id. at 2188.
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Procedure 19 and had to be joined by the original parties. Therefore,
the majority's reliance on the principles enunciated in Chase National
Bank v. Norwalk77 and Hansbury v. Lee7 8 was inappropriate when ap-
plied to the circumstances of this case.

The Wilks respondents failed to intervene in a timely manner and
were precluded from directly appealing the judgment. However, non-
parties may collaterally attack a judgment on certain narrow grounds.
To successfully challenge a judgment, respondents must show that the
judgment was reached on the basis of lack of jurisdiction, collusion,
fraud, transparent invalidity, mistake or duress. Justice Stevens argued
that none of these elements were present in this case and, thus, the
Wilks respondents should have been precluded from challenging the
decrees.

79

The second prong of Justice Stevens' argument related to the va-
lidity of the consent decrees. In Birmingham I, it was the white fire
fighters who argued that the consent decrees were not a defense to the
City's actions, or in the alternative, that they did not justify race con-
scious promotions. The City, on the other hand, argued that the promo-
tions were immunized from challenge because they were conferred pur-
suant to the consent decrees. The district court accepted neither of
these positions, indicating rather that if the promotions resulted from
the City's compliance with the consent decrees, then it could not be
found that the City had acted with the racially discriminatory intent
necessary to establish a Title VII or Equal Protection Clause
violation .80

Furthermore, the terms of the affirmative action plan established
by the consent decrees were lawful under federal law, including prior
Supreme Court decisions, and were proper remedial devices designed to
overcome the effects of past discrimination by the City.81 The district
court found that the City had not promoted any black officers who
were unqualified or demonstrably less qualified than their white coun-
terparts.82 Moreover, the decrees did not "preclude the hiring or pro-

7 291 U.S. 431 (1934).
78 311 U.S. 32, 40 (1940).
71 Martin v. Wilks, 109 S. Ct. at 2195-2198.
80 Id. at 2193 n.15.
" See, e.g., Steelworkers v. Weber, 443 U.S. 193 (1979); Johnson v. Transportation Agency,

480 U.S. 616 (1987).
"' Martin v. Wilks, 109 S. Ct. at 2194.
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motion of whites and males even for a temporary period." 83

On this basis, Justice Stevens argued that the district court's ac-
tual holding was that the affirmative action plan met all the require-
ments of previous Supreme Court decisions on the validity of race con-
scious remedies. The promotions in question were legitimate actions
taken in compliance with the terms of the affirmative action plan. Since
the plan was not a violation of Title VII or the Equal Protection
Clause, actions taken pursuant to it were also-not violative. Therefore,
the respondents were unable to present a prima facie case of employ-
ment discrimination, and the district court was justified in dismissing
the respondents' claims.8

The third prong of Justice Stevens' argument prescribes that:

For purposes of determining whether an employer can be held liable for inten-
tional discrimination merely for complying with the terms of a consent de-
cree. . .it is appropriate to treat the consent decree as a judicial order. Unlike
the typical contract, a consent decree. . is developed in the context of adver-
sary litigation. Moreover, the court reviews the consent decree to determine
whether it is lawful, reasonable and equitable. In placing the judicial impri-
matur on the decree, the court provides the parties with some assurance that
the decree is legal and that they may rely on it. Most significantly, violation
of a consent decree is punishable as criminal contempt. See 18 U.S.C. sec-
tions 401, 402; Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 42."'

Justice Stevens argued that consent decrees bear the stamp of ju-
dicial review and should be given the respect due a final judgment. This
argument discredited Chief Justice Rehnquist's contention that a con-
sent decree is no more than a glorified voluntary agreement. The con-
sent decrees required the City to take certain steps to rectify past hir-
ing discrimination. Failure to take these steps would have resulted in a
contempt citation. This compulsion was a sufficient and legitimate busi-
ness reason for the City's promotion policies. Therefore, the City's ac-
tions were not taken with the racially discriminatory intent necessary to
establish a Title VII or Equal Protection Clause violation. Justice Ste-
vens asserted that it was for this reason, and not because the district
court thought the respondents were legally bound by the consent de-

"' Id. at 2191.
14 Id. at 2194, 2195.
1 ld. at 2198 n.27.
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cree, that the Birmingham I court ruled in favor of the City. 6

In conclusion, Justice Stevens would have held that "compliance
with the terms of a valid decree remedying violation of Title VII
[could] not itself violate that statute or the Equal Protection Clause."87

He further warned that the majority holding would "subject large em-
ployers who seek to comply with the law by remedying past discrimina-
tion to a never-ending stream of litigation and potential liability."88

C. Cases Citing Martin v. Wilks

The Martin v. Wilks decision has been cited in several cases with
varying results. In Fifth Ward Precinct IA Coalition and Progressive
Association v. Jefferson Parish School Board, et al.,89 two white plain-
tiffs cited Martin v. Wilks as a reason to allow them to intervene in a
school redistricting case. The court did not explicitly comment on this
argument, but did deny the petitioners' motion to intervene on timeli-
ness grounds.

In William Rafferty v. City of Youngstown,"0 six white police of-
ficers, prompted by the Martin v. Wilks holding, sought a temporary
restraining order against Youngstown's affirmative action program,
which was established by consent decree. The court ruled that the
plaintiffs had been thoroughly represented in the proceedings leading to
the decree, and that the plaintiffs' bargaining representative had ap-
proved the decree. The plaintiffs were thus bound by the terms of the
settlement agreement, and the Martin v. Wilks holding was
inapplicable.

In Eugene Henry v. City of Gadsden, Alabama,1 white fire fight-
ers cited Martin v. Wilks in what the court termed "a paradigmatic
collateral attack on a consent decree. . . ." The court stated that the
consent decree passed the two-prong test articulated in Birmingham I.
The court held that the consent decree in question was: (1) justified by
a "manifest imbalance" in the representation of minorities in the work-
place and (2) did not "unnecessarily trammel" the rights of white em-

16 Id. at 2198, 2199.
87 Id. at 2200.
88 Id.
89 No. 86-2963 (E.D. La. July 27, 1989).
90 No. 87-C-1338-M (N.D. Ala. July 13, 1989).
91 715 F. Supp. 1438 (1988).
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ployees or create an absolute bar to their advancement. Thus, the con-
sent decree passed the Birmingham II test and the petitioners'
challenge "fail[ed] miserably." 92

The Supreme Court ruled in Independent Federation of Flight At-
tendants v. Zipes93 that Title VII attorney's fees may be assessed
against intervenors only when their intervention is "frivolous, unreason-
able, or without reasonable foundation." In a rather alarming dicta,
Justice Scalia, citing Martin v. Wilks, stated that Title VII attorney's
fees would also not be available from parties who launch an unsuccess-
ful collateral attack on a consent decree. Justice Scalia cited no lan-
guage to support this contention, and Justice Marshall's dissent labeled
the argument "specious" and "conclusory [sic] dicta of the worst
kind." 94 It is certain that the attorney's fees issue will arise if the City
of Gadsden attempts to recover attorney's fees against the Henry9 5

plaintiffs.

CONCLUSION

The majority decision in Martin v. Wilks reduced the complex is-
sue of race conscious remedies for past discrimination to an obscure
point of civil procedure. In its haste to erect another obstacle in the
course of affirmative action, the Court propelled back into the sphere of
contention innumerable disputes which the original litigants thought to
be long settled. Moreover, the Court's decision undermined the finality
of all judgments, whether voluntary or resulting from a final adjudica-
tion. The Court did not state whether its holding only applied to Title
VII cases. It will be interesting to note Chief Justice Rehnquist's reac-
tion to future challenges to consent decrees in other areas of law, such
as environmental protection or antitrust.

Moreover, Chief Justice Rehnquist's "mandatory joinder" argu-
ment may apply equally well to a final adjudication as to a consent
decree. After all, Chief Justice Rehnquist quoted Hansbury v. Lee"0 as
stating that "one is not bound by a judgment in personam. . ." if he or
she was not a party to the judgment or made a party to the action by

92 Id.
3 109 S. Ct. 2732 (1989).

"' Id. at 2745 n.6 (Marshall, J., dissenting).
" 715 F. Supp. 1438 (1988).
" 311 U.S. 32 (1940).
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service of process.97 Would Chief Justice Rehnquist approve of a collat-
eral attack by a non-party on a final judgment? Under the Martin v.
Wilks rule, it would appear that all a non-party need show to be al-
lowed to collaterally attack a judgment is an adverse impact as a result
of that judgment.

These questions are interesting, but the question in point for the
purpose of this Note is whether consent decrees still present a viable
alternative to final adjudication in Title VII cases. The holding of the
district court in Henry"8 indicates that if the affirmative action plan
meets the two-prong Birmingham H test, it will likely withstand the
collateral attack. The holding in Independent Federation of Flight At-
tendants,99 however, leaves open the question of whether attorney's fees
can be recovered against the unsuccessful collateral attacker. There-
fore, even if the decrees survive these attacks, repeated defense of the
decrees may prove to be quite costly.

To limit the possibility of collateral attack on a consent decree,
parties to the decree should attempt to join all parties that may be
affected by the decree, such as the bargaining representatives for cur-
rent employees. Where the search for "affected" persons is supposed to
end is not articulated by Chief Justice Rehnquist in Martin v. Wilks,
and one can rest assured that the sufficiency and extent of joinder will
be a major issue in future Title VII litigation.

The one thing that can be said with certainty, regarding the Mar-
tin v. Wilks decision, is that the parties involved, and, by inference, the
whole question of affirmative action, will be in court for a very long
time. Although consent decrees are not dead as a means of resolving
Title VII disputes, they are critically wounded. Whether the wound is
mortal can only be determined by future cases.

Eric S. Weiner

9 Martin v. Wilks, 109 S. Ct. at 2184.
9 715 F.Supp. 1438 (1988).
9 109 S. Ct. 2732 (1989).
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